#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Nov 28 2022 02:16PM EST Transaction ID 68443871

#### ALLEY CAT ALLIES INCORPORATED,

Appellant,

v. No. 22-744

## BERKELEY COUNTY ANIMAL CONTROL and COUNTY COUNCIL OF BERKELEY COUNTY,

Appellees.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Timothy Hyland (WV Bar No. 9827) HYLAND LAW PLLC 1818 Library Street, Suite 500 Reston, VA 20190 thyland@hylandpllc.com (703) 956-3566 (phone) (703) 935-0349 (fax)

Counsel for Appellant Alley Cat Allies Incorporated

###

A.	Introduction
В.	Procedural History
C.	Pertinent Facts
SUM	MARY OF THE ARGUMENT6
STAT	TEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 8
ARG	UMENT9
A.	Standard of Review
В.	The Circuit Court erred in its analysis of the standing Alley Cat Allies invoked for its mandamus action
С.	The Circuit Court erred in making findings of fact that are unsupported in the record and are based on its own perceptions of credibility
D.	The Circuit Court erred in holding that Alley Cat Allies did not seek enforcement of a public right in its mandamus action
E.	The Circuit Court erred in holding that mandamus was not an appropriate remedy to require BCAC to perform their lawful duties
F.	The Circuit Court erred by giving any consideration to this Court's previously declining to issue a rule to show cause on Alley Cat Allies' petition for a writ of mandamus.
CON	CLUSION23
CER'	ΓΙFICATE OF SERVICE25

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases

Bayles v. Evans, 243 W. Va. 31, 842 S.E.2d 235 (2020)9
City of Bridgeport v. Matheny, 223 W. Va. 445, 675 S.E.2d 921 (2009)17, 18
Coleman v. Sopher, 194 W.Va. 90, 459 S.E.2d 367 (1995)
Commonwealth of Pa. Fish & Boat Comm'n v. Consol Energy, Inc., 233 W. Va. 409, 758 S.E.2d 762 (2014)
Courtney v. Smith, 297 F.3d 455 (6th Cir. 2002)
Excavation Const., Inc. v. Ritchie, 159 W. Va. 888, 230 S.E.2d 822 (1976)
Frantz v. Wyoming Cnty. Ct., 69 W. Va. 734, 73 S.E. 328 (1911)
Findley v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 213 W. Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002)
Gallant v. Cnty. Comm'n of Jefferson Cnty., 212 W. Va. 612, 575 S.E.2d 222 (2002)
Harrison Cnty. Comm'n v. Harrison Cnty. Assessor, 222 W. Va. 25, 658 S.E. 555 (2008)
Hickman v. Epstein, 192 W. Va. 42, 450 S.E.2d 406 (1994)
Knotts v. Moore, 177 W. Va. 9, 350 S.E.2d 9 (1986)22
Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Va., 244 W. Va. 508, 854 S.E.2d 870 (2020)
Myers v. Barte, 167 W.Va. 194, 279 S.E.2d 406 (1981)
Nobles v. Duncil, 202 W. Va. 523, 505 S.E.2d 442 (1998)
Payne v. Staunton, 55 W. Va. 202, 46 S.E. 927 (1904)
Prichard v. De Van, 114 W. Va. 509, 172 S.E. 711 (1934)16
Rogers v. Hechler, 176 W. Va. 713, 348 S.E.2d 299 (1986)

Savarese v. Allstate Ins. Co., 223 W. Va. 119, 672 S.E.2d 255 (2008)9
Smith v. W. Va. State Bd. of Educ., 170 W. Va. 593, 295 S.E.2d 680 (1982)16, 17
State ex rel. Barker v. Manchin, 167 W. Va. 155, 279 S.E.2d 622 (1981)7, 11, 12
State ex rel. Blankenship v. McHugh, 158 W. Va. 986, 217 S.E.2d 49 (1975)22
State ex rel. Brotherton v. Moore, 159 W. Va. 934, 230 S.E.2d 638 (1976)11
State ex rel. Greenbrier Cnty. Airport Auth. v. Hanna, 151 W.Va. 479, 153 S.E.2d 284 (1967)
State ex rel. Healthport Techs., LLC v. Stucky, 239 W. Va. 239, 800 S.E.2d 506 (2017)
State ex rel. Noyes v. Lane, 89 W. Va. 744, 110 S.E. 180 (1921)
Statutes and Rules
W. Va. Code § 7-10-2(a)
W. Va. Code § 7-10-1
W. Va. Code § 61-8-19
W. Va. Code § 61-8-19(a)(1)(C)(iii)
W. Va. R. App. P. 16(j)
W. Va. R. App. P. 19
W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)9
Other Authority
Berkeley Cnty., W. Va. Ordinance In Re: Mgmt. & Control of Dogs and Certain Other Animals (February 25, 2010)

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court of Berkeley County (the "Circuit Court") erred in holding that to obtain standing, Alley Cat Allies Incorporated ("Alley Cat Allies")—a taxpayer of Berkeley County and the State of West Virginia—was required to demonstrate a particularized injury, when seeking a Writ of Mandamus to compel Berkeley County Animal Control and the County Council of Berkeley County (together, "BCAC") to perform a ministerial duty, imposed upon them by law in favor of the public;
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in holding that Alley Cat Allies was not sufficiently a taxpayer to invoke taxpayer standing in bringing its Verified Complaint for Writ of Mandamus (the "Verified Complaint"), improperly relying on facts unsupported in the record and its own perceptions of credibility—in other words, applying an incorrect standard of review to its consideration of the Motion to Dismiss;
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court erred in holding that Alley Cat Allies did not seek enforcement of a public right in the Verified Complaint;
- 4. Whether the Circuit Court erred in holding that mandamus was not an appropriate remedy to require BCAC to perform their lawful duties; and
- 5. Whether the Circuit Court erred by giving any consideration to this Court's previous refusal to issue a rule to show cause, without prejudice, on Alley Cat Allies' original jurisdiction Petition for Writ of Mandamus.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. INTRODUCTION

This is a case in which a Berkeley County taxpayer, Alley Cat Allies, filed the Verified Complaint in the Circuit Court against BCAC. Alley Cat Allies sought the Writ of Mandamus as a result of BCAC's persistent and routine endangerment and abuse of animals, and their repeated and habitual failure to provide medical treatment to animals in their care. Alley Cat Allies sought from the Circuit Court a Writ of Mandamus ordering BCAC to comply with their nondiscretionary obligations to prevent animal cruelty and enforce animal cruelty laws, including W. Va. Code § 61-8-19(a)(1)(C)(iii).

In response to the Verified Complaint, BCAC filed an unverified Motion to Dismiss, asserting, *inter alia*, that Alley Cat Allies lacked standing to seek a Writ of Mandamus and that the Circuit Court therefore lacked jurisdiction. The parties each briefed the issues, and oral argument was held before the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court granted BCAC's Motion to Dismiss on the bench on the grounds that Alley Cat Allies lacked standing and subsequently issued a written Order Denying Motion to Strike and Granting Motion to Dismiss (the "Order").

This appeal ensued.

#### B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

- 1. On November 24, 2021, Alley Cat Allies presented to this Court a Verified Petition for Writ of Mandamus against Berkeley County Animal Control (Case No. 21-0962), invoking this Court's concurrent original jurisdiction with the Circuit Court over such action. (A. 78).
- 2. On February 23, 2022, after considering Berkeley County Animal Control's Response to Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Motion to Dismiss, and Alley Cat Allies' Opposition to Motion to Dismiss,<sup>2</sup> this Court entered an Order declining to issue a rule to show cause *without prejudice* to the right of Alley Cat Allies to present its case to the appropriate circuit court. *See* W. Va. R. App. P. 16(j). (A. 261).
- 3. On March 3, 2022, Alley Cat Allies submitted a Verified Complaint for Writ of Mandamus in the Circuit Court against BCAC. (A. 9).
  - 4. BCAC filed their Motion to Dismiss on March 30, 2022. (A. 55).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the Appendix will be made as follows: "(A. \_\_)."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Simultaneously with its Opposition to Motion to Dismiss, Alley Cat Allies filed in this Court a Motion for Leave to Amend and Supplement Petition for Writ of Mandamus, and a proposed Verified Amended and Supplemented Petition for Writ of Mandamus. (A. 246).

- 5. Alley Cat Allies filed its Opposition to Motion to Dismiss on April 4, 2022.3 (A. 263).
- 6. BCAC filed their Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss on April 19, 2022. (A. 282).
- 7. The Circuit Court held an oral argument on the Motion to Dismiss<sup>4</sup> on July 18, 2022.
- 8. The Circuit Court ruled from the bench, granting BCAC's Motion to Dismiss.<sup>5</sup> (A. 335-38).
  - 9. On July 29, 2022, the Circuit Court issued its written Order. (A. 1-7).

#### C. PERTINENT FACTS

10. In the Conclusions of Law section of the Order (A. 3-7), the Circuit Court stated, in pertinent parts, as follows:

#### ¶ 10. Standing requires three elements:

... First, the party attempting to establish standing must have suffered an 'injury-in-fact'—an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent and not conjectural or hypothetical. Second, there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct forming the basis of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Simultaneously with its Opposition to Motion to Dismiss, Alley Cat Allies filed in the Circuit Court a Motion to Strike Portions of Motion to Dismiss, alleging that BCAC improperly used the platform of their Motion to Dismiss to level unsupported scurrilous, immaterial, impertinent, and scandalous attacks on Alley Cat Allies and one of its officers, and to suggest the existence of defenses that are contrary to clearly established law. The Circuit Court's denial of Alley Cat Allies' Motion to Strike is not the subject of an assignment of error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The July 18, 2022 oral argument also addressed the Motion to Strike.

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  Ruling from the bench, the Circuit Court also denied Alley Cat Allies' Motion to Strike. (A. 305).

- lawsuit. Third, it must be likely that the injury will be redressed through a favorable decision of the court.
- Syl. Pt. 5, Findley v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 213 W. Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002).
- ¶ 11. Here, ACA has no concrete and particularized injury, and the purported injury to be abated by issuing the writ is not to the organization, its members, or their property, but to some future animal and its owner.
- ¶ 12. Any potential future injury is not actual or imminent; it is conjectural and hypothetical.
- ¶ 13. Because ACA has no injury-in-fact, it lacks standing and this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction.
- ¶ 14. In addition, any possible remedy the Court could impose cannot redress the 'injury' alleged. The Court could merely order BCAC and the Sheriff [of the Berkeley County] to follow the law, which they already know they must do.
- ¶ 15. Rather than allege an injury-in-fact, ACA argues that it has standing to bring this suit as a taxpayer to enforce a public right. The West Virginia Supreme Court has held that '[w]here the right sought to be enforced is a public one, mandamus can be sought by any citizen, taxpayer or voter.' Syl. Pt. 3, Myers v. Barte, 167 W.Va. 194, 279 S.E.2d 406 (1981).
- ¶ 16. While ACA may have paid some property transfer taxes or even property taxes, taxpayer standing for public rights requires more than just buying a piece of property and paying the transfer tax on the same day that the Petition is filed.
- ¶ 17. While an individual owner of an animal may have a property right as to the treatment of that animal while in the care of an animal control officer, there is no public right to be enforced here.
- ¶ 18. Therefore, based on the facts presented by ACA, ACA has not demonstrated that it is a taxpayer in West Virginia seeking to enforce a public right sufficient to give rise to taxpayer standing.

\* \* \*

- ¶ 20. . . . [T]he Court cannot find that there is an injury suffered by the Petitioner to its organization, members, or their property.
- ¶ 21. Finally, the Court cannot conclude that the alleged injury to animals would be redressed through a favorable decision of the Court because the Court could do nothing more than simply order that the Respondents obey the law; and the Respondents have here today acknowledged that they are already required to obey the law.
- ¶ 22. Because ACA does not have standing to bring this suit, the Court is without jurisdiction to hear the case, and the Court need not address the issue of whether the Petitioner has made a prima facie case to prevail against the Motion to Dismiss.
- ¶ 23. The Court finds at least *persuasive*, though not controlling, that the petition to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals was summarily dismissed. The Court has read all of the pleadings in that case and finds the arguments nearly identical.

Order, § Conclusions of Law at ¶¶ 10-23 (italics added). (A. 4-7).

11. The Circuit Court concluded, in pertinent part, that "[i]t is further ADJUDGED and ORDERED that the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED and the Complaint is DISMISSED, with prejudice. *Id.*, § Conclusion. (A. 7).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should reverse the Circuit Court's Order granting BCAC's Motion to Dismiss Alley Cat Allies' Verified Complaint for a Writ of Mandamus and remand the case for proceedings consistent with the Court's opinion.

The Circuit Court erred in holding that to obtain standing, Alley Cat Allies—a taxpayer—was required to demonstrate a particularized injury to itself or its members or their property, when seeking a Writ of Mandamus to compel BCAC to perform a ministerial duty, imposed upon BCAC by law in favor of the public. The Circuit Court's holding in this regard is contrary to long-established West Virginia

law that a taxpayer of this State has a right to a mandamus proceeding in order to compel a public official to perform a nondiscretionary constitutional duty, without showing "any special or pecuniary interest in the performance thereof," *Frantz v. Wyoming Cnty. Ct.*, 69 W. Va. 734, 73 S.E. 328, 328 (1911), in other words, "direct *injury*' such as was traditionally required," *State ex rel. Barker v. Manchin*, 167 W. Va. 155, 165, 279 S.E.2d 622, 629 (1981) (emphasis added).

The Circuit Court erred in holding that Alley Cat Allies was not sufficiently a taxpayer to invoke taxpayer standing in bringing its Verified Complaint, improperly relying on facts unsupported in the record, improperly applying its own perceptions of credibility, and improperly refusing to accept the allegations in the Verified Complaint as true and to construe all reasonable inferences therefrom in Alley Cat Allies' favor.

The Circuit Court erred in holding that Alley Cat Allies did not seek enforcement of a public right. This holding is contrary to West Virginia law which provides that general statutes or those affecting the public at large (such as the animal cruelty laws) are subject to mandamus proceedings brought by any citizen, taxpayer, or voter.

The Circuit Court erred in holding that mandamus was not an appropriate remedy to require BCAC to perform their lawful duties and "follow the law." This holding is contrary to West Virginia law which provides that mandamus is precisely the proper means to compel any public officer to perform a nondiscretionary legal duty.

The Circuit Court also erred by considering this Court's previous refusal to issue a rule to show cause on Alley Cat Allies' original jurisdiction Petition for Writ of Mandamus. This holding is in plain contravention of W. Va. R. App. P. 16(j) and West Virginia case law stating that a refusal by the Court to exercise its original jurisdiction, without prejudice, is not a decision on the merits.

The Circuit Court's Order must be reversed, and the case remanded for further proceedings consistent with this Court's opinion.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Alley Cat Allies respectfully asks for oral argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because this case involves assignments of error in the application of settled law; the parties have not waived oral argument; the appeal is non-frivolous; some of the issues here have not been authoritatively decided; and the decisional process will significantly be aided by oral argument. This case is not appropriate for a memorandum decision. Alley Cat Allies respectfully submits that because of the number of substantial issues presented, oral argument of 10 minutes per side would be insufficient, and requests that oral argument be set for 20 minutes per side.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Where, as here, the Court is presented with an appeal of a motion to dismiss based upon Rule 12(b)(1) and Rule 12(b)(6), "this Court will apply a *de novo* standard of review to a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss." *Savarese v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 223 W. Va. 119, 123, 672 S.E.2d 255, 259 (2008); *see also Bayles v. Evans*, 243 W. Va. 31, 38, 842 S.E.2d 235, 242 (2020) ("Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*."). In particular, the standard of review in considering whether a circuit court properly denied a writ of mandamus is *de novo*. *See Harrison Cnty. Comm'n v. Harrison Cnty. Assessor*, 222 W. Va. 25, 28, 658 S.E. 555, 558 (2008).

## B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS ANALYSIS OF THE STANDING ALLEY CAT ALLIES INVOKED FOR ITS MANDAMUS ACTION.

"This Court has defined 'standing' as '[a] party's right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right." State ex rel. Healthport Techs., LLC v. Stucky, 239 W. Va. 239, 242, 800 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2017). "The focus of a standing analysis is not on the validity of the claim but instead is 'on the appropriateness of a party bringing the questioned controversy to the court." Id. at 243, 800 S.E.2d at 510. As the Circuit Court recognized, traditionally,

[s]tanding . . . is comprised of three elements: First, the party . . . [attempting to establish standing] must have suffered an 'injury-infact'—an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent and not conjectural or hypothetical. Second, there must be a causal connection [between] the injury and the conduct forming the basis of the lawsuit. Third, it must

be likely that the injury will be redressed through a favorable decision of the court.

Coleman v. Sopher, 194 W.Va. 90, 95 n.6, 459 S.E.2d 367, 373 n.6 (1995) (emphasis added); cf. Order, § Conclusions of Law at ¶ 10 (A. 4).

Employing this traditional framework, the Circuit Court concluded that Alley Cat Allies lacked standing to bring its mandamus action *because* "the Court cannot find that there is an injury suffered by the Petitioner to its organization, members, or their property." See Order, § Conclusions of Law at ¶ 20 (A. 6); see also id. at ¶ 13 (A. 5) ("Because ACA has no injury-in-fact, it lacks standing and this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction."); Transcript of July 18, 2022 Hearing ("Tr.") at 43:21-23 (A. 335) ("[E]ven assuming arguendo that the petitioner is a taxpayer the Court finds that this alone is insufficient to establish proper standing [in this action.]").

The Circuit Court's reliance on this traditional basis of standing—despite acknowledging that Alley Cat Allies invoked the taxpayer standing permitted specifically for requesting a mandamus "to compel a public tribunal to perform a ministerial duty, imposed upon it by law in favor of the public"—constitutes a legal error. See Frantz, 69 W. Va. at 734, 73 S.E. at 328; Order, § Conclusions of Law at ¶ 15 (A. 5) ("Rather than allege an injury-in-fact, ACA argues that it has standing to bring this suit as a taxpayer to enforce a public right."). Contrary to the Circuit Court's view and as repeatedly argued in Alley Cat Allies' Opposition to Motion to Dismiss and at the July 18, 2022 hearing, to assert the taxpayer standing in such mandamus action, an injury or special interest need not be alleged—being a citizen, taxpayer, or voter is sufficient. See Rogers v. Hechler, 176 W. Va. 713, 716, 348 S.E.2d

299, 302 (1986) ("Where the right sought to be enforced is a public one, mandamus can be sought by any citizen, taxpayer or voter."); Opposition to Motion to Dismiss at 7-8 (A. 269-70); Tr. at 27:4-7, 37:8-14 (A. 319, 329).

As this Court has explained,

Any [additional] standing which could be demonstrated in this regard, . . . is superfluous. Both of these relators have standing to maintain the proceeding as citizens and taxpayers of this State.

We have faithfully adhered to the principle that a citizen and taxpayer may maintain a mandamus proceeding to compel any public officer to perform a nondiscretionary legal duty. No special or pecuniary interest must be shown by individuals who sue in this capacity.

State ex rel. Brotherton v. Moore, 159 W. Va. 934, 938, 230 S.E.2d 638, 640-41 (1976) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added); see also Frantz, 69 W. Va. at 734, 73 S.E. at 328 ("A citizen, taxpayer, or voter in any proper case may maintain mandamus to compel a public tribunal to perform a ministerial duty, imposed upon it by law in favor of the public without showing any special or pecuniary interest in the performance thereof.").

In fact, this Court has explicitly refuted the Circuit Court's position in this case:

The respondent has also questioned the standing of Mr. Barker to seek relief in this case. The crux of this argument is that the relator has shown no 'direct injury' such as was traditionally required . . . . This point is not well taken. This Court rejected this strict standard in the case of State ex rel. Brotherton v. Moore, W.Va., 230 S.E.2d 638 (1976), where it was stated in syllabus point 1 that:

'A citizen and taxpayer of this State has a right to a mandamus proceeding in order to compel a public official to perform a non-discretionary constitutional duty.' We specifically stated that no 'special or pecuniary interest must be shown by individuals who sue in this capacity.' 230 S.E.2d 638, 640-641.

Manchin, 167 W. Va. at 165, 279 S.E.2d at 629 (emphasis added); see also Excavation Const., Inc. v. Ritchie, 159 W. Va. 888, 889, 230 S.E.2d 822, 823 (1976) ("Shenandoah Quarry, Inc., a West Virginia corporation, participated in this [mandamus] proceeding as a West Virginia taxpayer, has the necessary standing to present the issues which are fundamental to a proper disposition of this case and hereinafter will be treated as the sole appellant." (emphasis added)).

The Circuit Court erred in requiring Alley Cat Allies to show a special interest or injury beyond being a taxpayer to have standing to bring its mandamus action in the Verified Complaint.

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