IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA ex rel.
ALLEY CAT ALLIES INCORPORATED,

SCA EFiled: Jan 13 2023 12:39PM EST

Transaction ID 68886244

Petitioner,

v. No. 22-744

BERKELEY COUNTY ANIMAL CONTROL, and COUNTY COUNCIL OF BERKELEY COUNTY,

Respondents.

RESPONSE BRIEF

Counsel for "Berkeley County Animal Control" and Berkeley County Council, Respondents,

Anthony J. Delligatti, (WV State Bar No. 12345) Jeffery T. Mauzy, (WV State Bar No. 11178) 400 W. Stephen Street, Suite 201 Martinsburg, West Virginia 25401 Phone: (304) 264-1923 Ext. 8 adelligatti@berkeleywv.org jmauzy@berkeleywv.org

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

ACA argues in its brief that the circuit court was required to presume all allegations of fact as to standing as true when assessing a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.⁵⁴ While trial courts must assume allegations of fact to be true when assessing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, that is not the case for assessing subject matter jurisdiction under a Rule 12(b)(1) motion. Standing cannot be inferred and the party asserting a claim for relief bears the burden of demonstrating that it has standing.⁵⁵ Moreover, "(w)hen reviewing a factual attack on subject matter jurisdiction, a () court may not presume the truthfulness of the complaint's factual allegations."⁵⁶

Rather than offer any proof of taxes paid, or how the status of a taxpayer is somehow related to the treatment decisions of animals rescued by BCAC, ACA broadly argues that the mere

⁵² Complaint. App. at 10.

⁵³ W. Va. Code § 11-3-9(a)(12).

⁵⁴ Petitioner's Brief at 12.

⁵⁵Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561, 112 S.Ct. 2130, 2136, 119 L.Ed.2d 351 (1992).

⁵⁶ Holt v. United States, 46 F.3d 1000, 1003 (10th Cir. 1995).

payment of taxes itself confers standing. ACA does not argue that there is some connection between whatever taxes it has paid or is obligated to pay in the future and the actions of BCAC, nor does it explain how treatment decisions for rescued animals may cause injuries to taxpayers generally. While West Virginia courts have not clearly defined what constitutes a taxpayer for standing to enforce a public right, surely it requires more than just buying a piece of property and paying the transfer tax on the same day that the Petition is filed. If that were that case, it would open the door to any person anywhere gaining standing in West Virginia simply by purchasing something in West Virginia and paying a consumption tax (sales tax, excise tax, transfer tax, etc.). If paying a West Virginia transaction tax or property tax is sufficient to confer taxpayer standing, then the claim would need to have some connection to the status of a taxpayer. It is also unclear how long would the taxpayer have standing if it was no longer obligated to pay any future taxes.

Because ACA has failed to demonstrate that it is a taxpayer, the circuit court correctly found that it is without jurisdiction because ACA lacks standing to bring this suit.

III. The circuit court correctly found there is no public right to various treatment decisions of rescued animals in the care of Berkeley County Animal Control, and because of that no taxpayer standing suit could be brought to enforce any such rights.

In addition to lacking taxpayer standing for failing to demonstrate that ACA is a taxpayer, the rights alleged to have been violated are personal property rights rather than public rights. Whether and when an animal recovered by an animal control officer gets any level of medical treatment is hardly a public right. While an individual owner of an animal may have a property right as to the treatment of that animal while in the care of an animal control officer, there is no public right to be enforced here. Otherwise, every time a citizen, taxpayer or voter did not like how an animal control officer treated an animal, it could haul that public officer into court. The same

would go for all law enforcement activity, regardless of whether the person bringing the suit had any interest in the outcome of the case.

Certainly there is a private property right of animal owners, but ACA argues that any citizen or taxpayer, regardless of whether that person has an ownership interest, may bring an action against the BCAC for the treatment of animals previously in its care. Mandamus cases in West Virginia dealing with constitutional duties of elected officials and election matters have often been deemed to be public rights that may be enforced by citizen voters. However, no cases extend jurisdiction of public rights to the government's treatment of private property such as pets. If the notion of a public right is extended to the treatment of private property, then anyone, merely by paying a tax in the state, could bring suit against county officers in mandamus regarding an action taken by various county officials dealing with private property such as claims regarding: individual property assessments (Assessor), property taxes (Sheriff), property seized under civil asset forfeiture (Sheriff), code inspection and enforcement (County Commission); land use or subdivision decisions (Planning Commission), etc.

Applying ACA's reasoning, this would presumably also extend to the state as well as all political subdivisions which often make decisions affecting private property. The provision of standing to include all citizens and taxpayers to government actions that deal with private property would broaden standing for mandamus to such an extent that anyone could simply file a lawsuit any time a government actor did something that the citizen or taxpayer did not like regardless of whether the person bringing the suit had any real interest in the outcome. Because the only controverted rights at issues in the treatment decisions of rescued animals is a private property right, no public right exists and ACA lacks taxpayer standing to enforce a public right.

IV. The circuit court correctly found that a favorable decision by the circuit court would not redress any of the alleged wrongdoing or injuries, because such order could only require all public officers to not abuse rescued animals by giving an in adequate level of veterinary care without specifying what is an adequate level in all situations.

The circuit court, contrary to ACA's claims, did not find that mandamus is not an appropriate remedy to require performance of lawful duties in all animal welfare cases, but rather found that, in this case, hypothetical future treatment decision are discretionary and any broad order by the court could not redress the alleged injuries. The lower court found that the suit lacked redressability, because the only issues raised were abstract questions of future medical care for animals and all parties agree that all animal control officers must not violate the animal abuse statute. Thus, the court could do nothing more than simply order the respondents to obey the law and not commit criminal animal abuse.

Standing requires that injuries be capable of being redressed by a court.⁵⁸ Moreover, ministerial duties, for which mandamus may apply are ones which are "to be performed **under a given state of facts**, in a prescribed manner, in obedience to the mandate of legal authority, and without regard to or exercise of the judgment of the one doing it upon the propriety of the acts being done."⁵⁹ Rather than seeking a redress of injuries, ACA seeks an advisory opinion that some treatment decisions in the past were improper, but offers nothing in the way specific mandatory guidance in future veterinary care decisions. Because all parties agree that everyone must not violate the criminal laws of the state of West Virginia, and a general order requiring Respondents

⁵⁷ See W. Va. Code § 61-8-19(a).

⁵⁸ Syl. pt. 5, Findley v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 213 W.Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002).

⁵⁹ Syl. Pt. 2, *Marcum v. Ballot Commissioners*, 42 W. Va. 263, 26 S.E. 281 (1896) (emphasis added).

to do so would not redress any prior or future injuries, and no writ can be molded to alleviate any such injuries.

ACA argues that there is a clear, definable, legal duty for BCAC to provide necessary medical treatment to injured animals BCAC rescues. To be clear, BCAC provides necessary medical care to all animals in its care. Nonetheless, determining what care is needed requires the use of sound discretion as to what is necessary under the circumstances. Officers are trained to use their discretion in care decisions, and the policy directives set forth by the Sheriff provide guidance in how to utilize that discretion.⁶⁰

Even if a foreign special interest group had a right for animals it did not own in this state to receive "necessary medical care," such duty is a vague, abstract notion that necessarily requires some discretion under the circumstances guided by community standards of morality. Because there is no specific case at issue or facts to assess, ACA seeks a broad rule compelling the BCAC to not commit a specific crime because it believes unnamed BCAC officers committed that crime in the past. Were mandamus awarded, then every time that ACA thinks veterinary treatment was necessary, but the trained animal control officers make a different decision, it will haul BCAC (or the officer) into court for contempt of the mandamus order. ACA is not arguing that any BCAC officers are currently committing animal abuse against any animals now in its care. Because this action is focused solely on future hypothetical factual situations, any such directive from this court beyond "don't violate W. Va. Code § 61-8-19" would go beyond this Court's authority into the policy making or administrative realms. And because the Sheriff and the Chief Animal Control Officer of Berkley County agree to follow the law and not commit animal abuse, there is no real dispute for the court to compel some action. Any questions as to past care decisions are not suited

⁶⁰ Ex. 2. - Supreme Court Appendix at 6-8.

for mandamus actions, because the writ of mandamus is prospective, not retrospective, and requires a specific action to be taken.

The Sheriff believes the criminal statute on withholding medical care is a vital tool in prosecuting animal abusers, and does not agree that the criminal animal abuse statute as it applies to the neglect of animals in need of medical care is unconstitutionally vague when applied to specific sets of circumstances. That being said, other courts have found such notions as necessary medical care and unnecessary pain to be void for vagueness. In New York, a court found a statute prohibiting "unjustifiable physical pain" as being too vague to criminalize the failure to give medical care or pain treatment to a dog with a cancerous tumor.⁶¹

Unless there is a clear legal obligation or rule to take all animals picked up by BCAC to a veterinarian, it is unclear what directive this writ would entail. Is it the case that more animals need more medical care? If so, how much? What are the rules? When does the failure to provide medical care become criminally intentional or reckless rather than negligent? These ideas of necessary veterinary care under all circumstances are general broad duties that entail the use of discretion and are questions for policy makers and administrators, not courts. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the lower court's finding that ACA lacks standing.

V. The circuit court's consideration of this court's finding that no rule to show cause should issue in this writ was not error as it was not the basis for the circuit court's dismissal, but even if such consideration was error it is not reversible error because ACA lacks standing, and the case is moot.

22

⁶¹ *People v. Arroyo*, 3 Misc. 3d 668, 777 N.Y.S.2d 836 (Crim. Ct. 2004); *See also People v. Curcio*, 22 Misc. 3d 907, 908, 874 N.Y.S.2d 723, 726 (Crim. Ct. 2008).

The circuit court found that this Court's prior consideration of ACA's claims was not controlling and did not find that this Court's refusal to issue as show cause is *res judicata*. Rather, the circuit court dismissed the case because ACA lacks standing and because the case is moot. After both parties filed briefs in ACA's initial original jurisdiction petition before this Court, this Court, applying Rule 16(i) of the Rules of appellate procedure "fully considered the arguments of the parties" and found that "a rule should not be awarded." 63

Rule 16(j) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that when this Court refuses an original jurisdiction petition it is without prejudice unless the Court orders otherwise. Rule 16(j) simply clarifies that the Supreme Court's refusal to issue a rule is not an absolute bar to refiling the same or similar claim for extraordinary relief in circuit court; it does not state that a circuit court must ignore the findings made by this Court in the refusal order, or ignore the fact that this Court already fully considered the arguments of the parties. A dismissal without prejudice simply means that petitioner may refile the same claims in circuit court, not that the circuit court must ignore the fact that the Supreme Court reviewed the petition and found that a rule to show cause should not be awarded. Moreover, the circuit court did not base its finding that it lacked jurisdiction on this Court's prior decision, but merely noted that it "finds at least persuasive, though not controlling, that the petition to the West Virginia Supreme Court of appeals was summarily dismissed." Accordingly, the circuit court did not err by considering the fact that this court dismissed the initial suit, and if it did err, the error was not reversible because ACA lacks standing and the case is moot.

_

⁶² W. Va. R. App. 16(i).

⁶³ Supreme Court Order Refusing Petition for Writ of Mandamus. App. at 261.

⁶⁴ Circuit Court Order. App. at 7.

VI. Although ACA does not contest the lower court's finding that the case is moot, the case is moot and this appeal should be dismissed for being moot.

In addition to ACA lacking standing to bring the claims, the veterinary care decisions at issue are moot as none of the animals cited in the Complaint are in the care or custody of the Sheriff, any animal control officer, the County Council, or any other county government agency or official. Mootness occurs when there is a "lack of any actual controversy between litigants, as a result of which any judicial ruling would have no practical effect." A moot case generally cannot properly be considered on its merits. In fact "[m]oot questions or abstract propositions, the decision of which would avail nothing in the determination of controverted rights of persons or of property, are not properly cognizable by a court." Furthermore, "(a) case 'in which a controversy no longer exists' and which 'presents only an abstract question that does not arise from existing facts or rights' is, by definition, moot."

Here, there are no controverted rights to determine, or even the care decisions of animals named in the Complaint, but rather abstract questions of what level of veterinary care must be provided so as not to constitute animal abuse. These sorts of abstract questions are ones to be addressed by policy makers, not by courts. If it was the case that ACA owned a pet that was retrieved by BCAC and believed that the animal was suffering from animal abuse at the behest of one or more BCAC officers, then it certainly would be the Court's role to award mandamus if the court found that the officer was refusing to take some action required by law. Without a controversy before the Court as to a medical care decision for an animal in the custody of the

⁶⁵ MOOTNESS, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019).

⁶⁶ Syl. pt. 1, State ex rel. Lilly v. Carter, 63 W.Va. 684, 60 S.E. 873 (1908).

⁶⁷ City of Martinsburg v. Cnty. Council of Berkeley Cnty., 880 S.E.2d 42 (W. Va. 2022) (citing Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019).

Sheriff, there is simply no mandamus order that could provide clarity as to when medical treatment

is necessary under W. Va. Code § 61-8-19(a) for all hypothetical future situations.

Because all claims are moot the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction and the court should

either affirm the lower court's dismissal for mootness, or dismiss the Appeal for being moot.

CONCLUSION

This Court, as the lower court found, lacks subject matter jurisdiction, because 1) ACA

lacks standing to bring the claims, and 2) any claims alleged are moot. Accordingly, the Court

should affirm the lower court's dismissal.